Zeitschrift:	The Swiss observer : the journal of the Federation of Swiss Societies in the UK
Herausgeber:	Federation of Swiss Societies in the United Kingdom
Band:	- (1941)
Heft:	990
Artikel:	Only neutral city in the world
Autor:	[s.n.]
DOI:	https://doi.org/10.5169/seals-688881

Nutzungsbedingungen

Die ETH-Bibliothek ist die Anbieterin der digitalisierten Zeitschriften auf E-Periodica. Sie besitzt keine Urheberrechte an den Zeitschriften und ist nicht verantwortlich für deren Inhalte. Die Rechte liegen in der Regel bei den Herausgebern beziehungsweise den externen Rechteinhabern. Das Veröffentlichen von Bildern in Print- und Online-Publikationen sowie auf Social Media-Kanälen oder Webseiten ist nur mit vorheriger Genehmigung der Rechteinhaber erlaubt. <u>Mehr erfahren</u>

Conditions d'utilisation

L'ETH Library est le fournisseur des revues numérisées. Elle ne détient aucun droit d'auteur sur les revues et n'est pas responsable de leur contenu. En règle générale, les droits sont détenus par les éditeurs ou les détenteurs de droits externes. La reproduction d'images dans des publications imprimées ou en ligne ainsi que sur des canaux de médias sociaux ou des sites web n'est autorisée qu'avec l'accord préalable des détenteurs des droits. <u>En savoir plus</u>

Terms of use

The ETH Library is the provider of the digitised journals. It does not own any copyrights to the journals and is not responsible for their content. The rights usually lie with the publishers or the external rights holders. Publishing images in print and online publications, as well as on social media channels or websites, is only permitted with the prior consent of the rights holders. <u>Find out more</u>

Download PDF: 13.08.2025

ETH-Bibliothek Zürich, E-Periodica, https://www.e-periodica.ch

JULY 25TH, 1941.

It is not surprising that industrial construction during the first months of 1941 was above the level of the first quarter of 1940. Residential building, however, declined by 50 per cent. The engineering and metal industries are working on orders from Germany and German occupied countries, and attempts are being made to keep up exports of textile goods. In April, unemployment amounted to 7,853 fully unemployed against 9,582 in April 1940. Yet 9,500 workers are employed in emergency public works, in the labour service or in training centres — the majority are employed in building roads.

At the end of May, 1941, the index of wholesale prices had increased by 62.9 per cent. from the level of August, 1939, and the index of the cost of living had risen by 23 per cent. The wages of roughly three quarters of the workers have been increased since the beginning of the war — by some 6 per cent. on the average. This compares unfavourably with the general increase in prices and the wartime increase in income tax of 16.5 per cent. The real wages of the workers have thus fallen considerably.

Switzerland's financial situation shows the familiar signs of "war economy." The Budget deficit in 1940 was 845.5 million francs. Emergency expenditure was 1,165 million francs; national defence required 175.5 million francs and mobilisation 864.8 million francs. Additional wartime taxation yielded only 304.6 million francs. Since the start of the war, total notes in circulation have increased from 1,723 million francs to 2,095 million francs. The hoarding of notes, which was widespread at the beginning of the war, has diminished gradually. Average interest rates showed a tendency to rise, and official policy tried to counteract it by a reduction in the bank rate from 1.5 per cent. to 1.25 per cent. Price increases and great financial liquidity have created a widespread fear of inflation.

ENGLISH NEWS IN SWITZERLAND.

The following correspondence appeared in "The Times," July 22nd. It seems a pity that no steps are being undertaken to remedy this state of affairs.

We have heard a good deal recently about the Ministry of Information : the criticisms passed upon its competence have not always been complimentary. Perhaps with some reason. The following extracts from a letter received lately from a Swiss friend of mine may be worth attention. He writes :—

English news is very scarce; more strictly speaking, news about England is scarce, being limited to official bulletins, while English news is non-existent. English newspapers are unobtainable; and the wireless which we used to get splendidly at 9 p.m. till this spring, does not come through since the wavelength was altered. All English stations seem to be systematically blocked by German concerts, which we prefer to do without. The R.A.F. would be usefully employed in dropping newspapers (not leaflets). Our (Swiss) newspapers are flooded with German and Italian *communinqués*; what we pine for is something convincingly true. Anyhow, there is nothing certain to go upon, only propaganda proper for geese!

ONLY NEUTRAL CITY IN THE WORLD.

(Under this heading "Everybody's Weekly," of July 19th, publishes the following data about Bern's colourful history; attractive illustrations accompany the article.)

On a sunny April morning in 1191 Berchtold, fifth Duke of Zähringen, marked with his sword point a large cross upon the mountainside.

"Here," he said, "I will build a stronghold that shall for ever stem the hordes of envious bandits."

That very day the work was started. Men dug a huge moat about the site, and others toiled up the steep pass with hewn slabs of stone. Before many months had passed, a giant castle stood proudly against the sky — and it stands to-day, as sturdy as ever, but now it is called the Nydeck Palace, and its site is the Square of Justice in Berne, capital of Switzerland.

Prince Bismarck called Berne the "only neutral city in the world." And Laval himself, speaking in 1939, confessed that "Switzerland is the only nation of which it may be said here is neutrality undefiled."

But before we consider modern Berne, with all its fascinating byeways, trades, and privileges, it is as well to take one more peep into the past — into a wintry evening when the castle was still in its 'teens, when the aged Duke was haunted by tales of a terrible bear that ravaged the countryside.

Berchtold, despite his years donned armour, buckled on his sword, and rode away on his charger to slay the ravager. They met, near the castle walls, and after a terrible struggle the monster was slain.

From that day until this the town has been known as Berne (the Swiss word for bear) and it is impossible to walk through its streets and parks without seeing some monument to the Duke's victim.

For the past seven hundred years, a bear pit has been kept in the city, at the public expense. in memory of the ducal exploit. The first seal of the city, in 1224, bore a bear's head. And, since the fourteenth century, two mechanical bears have together tapped out the hours in the old clock tower.

Most of the city's printing presses bear the imprint of a bear, and the art shops are even to-day crammed with brass bears, tin bears, silver bears and golden bears. Bears look down at you from the cinema walls, and bears look down at you from the niches of the ancient Gothic cathedral.

Berne has always been the stronghold of Freedom. It became a free imperial city in 1218, and from 1288 until 1339 it waged unceasing war against the dictator Rudolph of Hapsburg.

In 1528 it took the side of the free churches against the autocracy of the Papacy, and it was not until 1798 that fifth columnists opened the gates to Napoleon, and thereby lost half their possessions.

How did Switzerland come to be the home of neutrality, the great stronghold of non-intervention which even Nazi Germany has so far respected?

Actually it was England that gave Switzerland her historic neutrality, for in 1815, at the Congress of Vienna, Napoleon having been defeated, Prince Metternich proposed that part of Switzerland be given to Austria.

The English foreign secretary protested and counter-claimed that Swiss soil should be forever guaranteed by the great powers of Europe and Asia. The result was the Federal Pact, the official undertaking of the great nations never to violate Swiss neutrality.

To-day, therefore, Berne, the last stronghold of neutrality, pursues its own quiet way of life rationed, it is true, and ready arme d— but times have not greatly changed the tenor of its daily round.

It has been called the city of fountains. One American tourist claimed that he had visited no less than thirty-four of them. At the centre of the old main street, the Zeitglockenturm, ten fountains play a day and night cascade. They are three hundred and fifty years old, and were carved by a noted sculptor, Hans Geiler, free of all cost to the city. An ancient cloister of all times — and even the twelfth century homes are inhabited by prosperous merchants.

There is, inevitably, a twentieth century Berne, with its *neu stadt* (new city), its Ritz Hotel, its Broadway cinemas, and its white marble Parliament houses. Spotless gay white trams wind their slow way through cobbled streets laid down three quarters of a thousand years ago, and the tourist may sip his cocktail in a house where mediaeval popes once lived.

The chief trades of this peaceful city are chocolate making, spinning, and cheese exporting. Swiss chocolate is famed the world over, and the best of it comes from Berne.

Since the last century, Berne has been, relatively, by far the most important chocolate exporter in the world. It is, in fact, the Mecca of confectionery, and for centuries all the crowned heads of Europe would have nobody save a Swiss as their chief confectioner.

It is the political capital of all the many cantons or districts which constitute Switzerland. Geneva may be better known, through the ill-starred League of Nations, and Zurich may be better known as a railway centre — but Berne, as Swinburn remarked, it the brightest jewel in Europe's brightest diadem.

Let us hope that it will continue as the last stronghold of neutrality.

GARDEN PARTY

at the Main Restaurant, Zoological Gardens, Regents Park, N.W.1.

On Saturday, July 12th a happy gathering of nearly 50 Swiss, in company of their ladies and friends, took place at the above venue and proved a great success, from every angle.

Our compatriot, Mr. A. Schorno, had made excellent arrangements and accommodated the party *al fresco*, amidst a bower of flowers, a most exquisite setting for such an event.

The menu proved a pleasant surprise in every way and was highly appreciated. It testified to the great capabilities of the Manager of the Catering Departments at Regents Park and Whipsnade, who honoured the company not only by his personal attention to all details, but also by his presence at the luncheon table, where Neuchâtel — served at exactly the right temperature — sparkled in the glasses on the snowy white festive board.

All this was conducive to the happy atmosphere which prevailed and those, who were fortunate enough to have taken part, will long remember the pleasant hours spent in cheerful company and feel grateful for such a welcome break during the daily stress of the present times.

Let it be added that the coupon restrictions do not, so far, appear to have interfered with the ladies' summer wardrobes, whose diaphanous frocks vied with the floral surroundings and reflected the brightness of a perfect summer day, over which the storm clouds gathered — and broke — long after the coffee had been served and the party had dispersed in the various directions of the Park where, no doubt, most of them found adequate temporary shelter and eventually reached their homes, happy and with spirits undaunted. W.D.

THE SWISS COLONY LIVERPOOL.

I attended recently the monthly gathering of our girls held in the house and garden of Mr. and Mrs. Davidson for in spite of the distracted times we live in, Mrs. Macquarie and Mrs. Davidson carry on these monthly gatherings which are more necessary than ever now.

Mrs. Davidson's house lies on the slope of one of the ridges which much enhance the beauty of the Wirral peninsula, the bedroom of Liverpool, and gives you a view over towards the Dee to the hills of Wales. A most charming vista. We debated, now that the Consulate has had to find a temporary home at Prestatyn, if we should not try to meet there for a first of August, the 650th anniversary of the foundation of our Confederation and the trend of the discussion was that we might. It depends, however, on how many can get leave of absence on that afternoon, in principle all would like to come.

We have all had disturbing experiences but none ended fatally like the swift passage from life to death of Mr. and Mrs. Caspar of Manchester. Probably Mrs. Macquarie and Mrs. Davidson had most to endure but neither Mr. L. J. Faivre nor I are likely to forget our hours amongst the debris in the basement of a high building completely burnt out attending to the forcing open of the safe and removing its contents. And all the while our thoughts were with Dr. and Mrs. Schedler at Ruthin, he seriously stricken down with hopes gradually fading that the skill of the doctors at Ruthin Castle might succeed in gaining the upper hand until the senior practitioner stepped in as he always does eventually with a final decision.

The Liverpool Colony also has lost a friend who quite obviously was at home amongst us and whose memory we shall treasure. We still have Mrs. Schedler whose friendship we intend to keep and to deserve. In happier times when social functions are possible with more ease than at present we hope to see her with us as often as she can come.

E. Montag.

APHORISM.

(To W. E. G.)

With head and heart gladly astir, Sip life's sweet cup unhurried; Once you no longer love — nor err — You might as well lie buried!

Transl. by GALLUS.